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THE COVADONGA KILLINGS'

During the night of 12— 13 July 1911 in the c ity  of Puebla, the 
capital of the state of Puebla, M exico, a bloody clash betw een ex-d i­
ctator Porfirio Diaz1 federal forces and Francisco I. M adero's revolutio­
nary troops resulted in the deaths of several dozens of insurgents and 
their fam ilies. M any of the M aderistas w ere machine-gunned in the 
city bull ring as they waited to greet Madero who w as scheduled to 
visit the city the following day. In the w ake of the infamous battle 
that lasted until dawn, out-gunned revolutionaries fled to safety in 
the surrounding countryside. On group, led by the M ethodist-minister- 
-turned-rebel, Eenigno Zenteno, passed by the Covadonga, textile fac­
tory located to the north of the city near the Tlaxcala state line. The 
Spanish managers of the plant, fearing an attack, fired on the fleeing  
Maderistas. The factory's defenders, outnumbered and left without g o ­
vernm ent help bacause of a dispute betw een the governor and the 
federal zone commander in Puebla, were soon overwhelm ed by the 
insurgents who w ere joined by the local citizenry including many of 
the mill’s workers. In the two-day sacking that followed, a Spaniard 
and four Germans (three male technicians and one of their spouses) 
em ployed by the factory w ere murdered1.

* A n  e a r l i e r  v e r s i o n  o f t h i s  w o r k  w a s  r e d d  a t  t h e  R o c k y  M ountain C onfe­
r e n c e  o n  L a t in  A m e r i c a n  S tu d i e s ,  P a r k  C i ty ,  U ta h ,  14 April 1983. T h e  author 
w o u ld  l i k e  to  t h a n k  T h o m a s  W . B a r ł e n b a c h  a n d  W a l t e r  R e d m o n d  for t h e i r  a s s i ­
s t a n c e  in  t r a n s l a t i n g  th e  G e r m a n .

1 A r c h i v  d e s  A u s w ä r t i g e n  A m te s ,  1867— 1920, L a t e i n a m e r i k a  ( G e r m a n  Foreign  
M in i s t r y  A r c h iv e ) ,  W h a d d o n  H a l l ,  E n g la n d ,  M ic r o f i lm ,  Paul von  H intze  to T h e o ­

bald  von  Bethmann H ollw eg ,  19 July  1911, r o l l  14: d o c .  50 4  ( h e r e a f t e r  c i t e d  a s  

A A A );  A r c h iv o  P a r t i c u l a r  d e  G i ld a r d o  M a g a n a ,  A r c h iv o  H i s tó r i c o ,  U n i v e r s i d a d  Autó- 
n o m a  d e  M e x ic o ,  M e x ic o  C i ty ,  Eduardo R eyes  lo A gustin  de l  Pozo, 15 Ju ly  1911, caja  
28: e x p e d i e n t e  15 d o c . 317 ( h e r e a f t e r  c i t e d  a s  A G M ) ;  A G M , Raiael C ańe te  to Fran­
cisco León de la Barra, 15 July  1911, 17: 10: 496 ; A r c h iv o  d o  F r a n c i s c o  I. M a d e r o ,



The death of foreigners in M exico during the revolution w as not 
an unusual occurrence g iven  the v io len ce of the period and the natio­
nalistic tone of the upheaval. A lthough foreign governm ents generally  
vigorously protested such incidents, seldom were they able to do any­
thing concrete to force M exico to capture the perpetrators or to re­
com pense the fam ilies of victim s of any given  incident. Given the 
chaotic situation and the M exican governm ent's lack of m oney, other 
countries usually added the new est statistic to their grow ing lists and 
looked forward to the day when an overall settlement, usually in the 
form of a claims com mission, could be worked out w ith M exico City2.

Ramo do Présidentes, A rchivo Gonera! de la N ación, M exico City, C a n e t e  to E m ilio  

V a z q u e z  G ô m e z , 15 J u ly  1911, caja 17: no carpeta number: no folio number (he­
reafter cited  as AGN/AFM ); A rchivo do Francisco V äzquez Gómez, Southern Illinois 
U niversity, Carbondale, H i la r io  G . M a r q u e z  Io  F. V a z q u e z  G ó m e z , 18 J u ly  1911, 

box 14: folder 7: doc. 1521 (hereafter cited as AFVG); A rchivo H istórico de la 
Sccrełaria de R elaciones Exteriores, M exico City, M. C a ste la z o  F. —  rep orte , 4 Sept. 

1911, oxpediente 242.5(43: 72) legajo  12—0— 20 (hereafter cited as SRE); SRE, C a rïe te  

to Sec . d e  R e la c io n e s  E x te r io re s , 15 J u ly  1911, 242.5(43: 72): 12—9— 20; SRE, J u a n  

de  V e la s c o  to V ic e c ô n s u l  a le m à n  en  P u e b la ,  19 J u ly  1911, 242.5(43: 72): 12— 9—20; 
E. C. y T o r r e s ,  D ic c io n a r io  b io g r à lic o  d e  P u e b la ,  vol. 1— 2, Puebla 1973, Pue.: 
C e n t ro  d e  E s tu d io s  H is t ó r ic o s  de P u e b la ,  p. 716— 717; M. A. P e r a 1, L o s  q u e  lu e -  

ro n  a la r e v o lu c io n ,  M exico City 1976, (PAC), p. 144; D. G. L a F r a n с e, A  p e o p le  

b e tra y e d : F r a n c is c o  I. M a d e r o  a n d  the M e x ic a n  r e v o lu t io n  in  Pu eb la ,  Ph. D. disser­
tation, Indiana U niversity-B loom m gton 1984, p. 166— 168. C ovadonga w as founded  
in 1898 by the Spanish industrialist and hacondado, José Diaz Rubin. In 1906 it 
w as taken  over by his sons, A ngel, León, Enrique, and Francisco who w ere the  
ow ners at the time ol the m assacre; see  R. E. U r r o z N u e v a s  m a q u in a s , m e n o s  

h o m b re s :  La  m o d e ln iz a c ió n  de  u n a  e m p re sa  textil e n  P u e b la :  La  C o v a d o n g a ,  Puebla  
1984, p. 7— 10, unpublished ms. C ovadonga had been the site  of severaf v io ­
lent encountors since the beginning ot the revolution in N ovem ber 1910 including  
the sacking and burning of parts oi the factory on  two earlier occasions. Reports 
indicate C ovadonga w orkers had poor relations with their Spanish bosses and that re ­
volutionary bands found the m ill hands ea sy  recruits; see  C olección  porfiro Diaz, Uni- 
versidad do las Am ericas, Cholula, Puebla, M icrofilm, J u a n  de  la F u e n te  P a rre s  

to P. D ia z , 12 D e c .  1910, rollo 367: doc. 6180; A rchivo de la  R evolucion M exicana, 
Com pilado por el Patronato de la H istoria de Sonora, Instituto N acional de A ntro­
pologia e H istoria, M exico City, M icrofilm, R e la to -su c e so  d e  la C o v a d o n g a ,  3 A u g .  

1911, rollo 35: vol. 60: p. 227; Records of the Foreign Service Posts of the De­
partment of State, Record Group 84, C orrespondence w ith Consular A gencies, Am e­
rican C onsulate General, M exico City, N ational A rchives, W ashington, D. C. W i l ­

lia m  S. C h a m b e r s  to A r n o ld  S h a n k lin ,  8 M ay 1911, vol. 1911; „M exican Herald"
5 XII 1910,- „El Pais" 8 II 1911.

2 Spaniards in Puebla as w ell as other parts of M exico and Americans' suffe­
red much more lo ss of life and property dam age than did ahe Germans buł w ere not 
nearly as aggressive as the Germans in pursuing M exico for com pensation. Both 
countries loft their grievances to be settled  by claim s com m issions in later years. 
As ol A ugust 1982, Spain's claim s had still not been settled  ev id en tly  because of 
the break in diplom atic relations w ith Mexiico from 1939 to 1977.



The aftermath of the Covadonga killings, however, did not follow  
this general pattern. The German governm ent refused to file away for 
future negotiation the deaths of its four citizens, and Berlin's minister 
M exico City, Admiral Paul von Hintze, ceaselessly  pursued the M exi­
can authorities from July 1911 to early 1913 in an attempt to gain  
a satisfactory conclusion to the problem. The German pressure placed  
the Francisco León de la Barra and then the Madero governm ent in 
a dilemma with grave consequences for the latter administration. On 
the one hand, the M exican governm ent could not ignore the German 
entreaties g iven  M exico City's desire to maintain satisfactory relations 
with Berlin. This policy w es deem ed necessary as a means to create 
some independence in its international politics by playing Germany 
off against Britain, France, and the United States who w ere already  
ill-disposed toward Madero and his revolution and too close to the 
c i e n t i f i c o s  to be of help3. Not wanting to antagonize the Germans 
León de la Barra and then Madero made the politically unpalatable 
decision to prosecute the rebel perpetrators as Berlin demanded. On 
the other hand, capturing and punishing the culprits proved nearly 
im possible as neither president w as able to gain the full cooperation  
of state and local authorities in order to carry out the task. The presi­
dent’s  lack of effective control over officials in Puebla and Tlaxcala 
was exacerbated by the populace's negative reaction to their efforts 
to punish popular revolutionary leaders-m en who had made Madero's 
rise to power possible, and who had, at least in the public's mind, on­
ly  justifiably defended them selves against counterrevolutionaries as 
w ell as foreigners. The regim e's nearly futile efforts to control its fol­
low ers convinced the Germans and other outsiders of its w eakness 
internally. A t the same time, steps to catch and prosecute the guilty  
alienated key elem ents within Madero's revolutionary coalition who 
felt that he was capitulating to the demands of a foreign power. To 
make matters worse, many people suspected the governm ent of using  
Covadonga to persecute dissenting revolutionary officers rather than 
the truly culpable. Unable to extricate him self from this double-edged  
political dilemma, Madero lost valuable support both internationally  
and dom estically. In the end Covadonga greatly contributed to his 
downfall as his disillusioned adherents (as w ell as expedient conser­

s F. K a t z ,  Deutschland, Diaz  un die m exikanische  R evo lu t io n : Die deutsche  
Politik in M exiko ,  1870 1020, Berlin 1964, Vob D eutscher V erlag der W issenschaften , 
p. 207; F. К d t z, The secret w a r  in M exico: Europe, the  United  Sta tes  and the 
M exican revolu tion ,  C hicago 1981, U n iversity  of Chicago, p. 88. The cientif icos  w ere  
a clique of Diaz supporters and advisoTs including former cabinet m inisters who  
advocated a positiv ist econom ic and social ph ilosophy and w ho still w ie ld ed  a great 
deal oi influence and power.



vative opponents taking advantage of the situation) took up arms 
against him, and the German governm ent cooperated dith other foreign  
nations in pushing for the coup d'état of Victoriano Huerta and Félix 
Diaz that ousted Madero from power.

THE LEON DE LA BARRA GOVERNMENT

The killings, occurring on the day of M adero’s scheduled visit to 
Puebla in celebration of his recent victory over Diaz, w ere roundly 
condemned by the Maderista leadership. Mill owners, too, joined in 
the protest by shutting down their factories and threatening to put 
their thousands of em ployees perm anently out of work if social peace  
w ere not restored. The German minister journeyed to Puebla where 
he met with both Governor Rafael Cańete and Madero to press his 
governm ent's claims for com pensation and the caputre of the killers, 
in response, Madero's brother, Raul, and another important Maderista, 
Eduardo Hay, w ere instructed to investigate the matter w hile authori­
ties arrested Zenteno and several other insurgent officers for having 
initiated the attack. Madero promised the factories s e c u r ity  ordered  
the rebels around Puebla City to withdraw to the nearby towns of 
A tlixco and Cholula, and sent one thousand additional troops to Pue­
bla to help ensure peace. León de la Barra, at Hintze's behest, provi­
ded a special military guard to accom pany the German survivors of 
Covadonga to the port of Veracruz where they embarked for hom e4.

The German minister was not satisfied to let the M exican legal sy s­
tem run its course, however, and he therefore constantly applied pres­
sure on the León de la Barra governm ent to solve the case quickly. 
Covadonga was Hintze's first real test since taking up his post in M e­
xico City only two months earlier, and he doubtless felt the need to 
prove himself for several reasons. Hintze, a career naval officer, had

* AFVG, J. 1. M o r e n o  to F. V a z q u e z  G ó m e z , 15 J u ly  1911, 14: 5: 1441; AGM, 
M a d e r o  to L e ó n  d e  la Barra, 13 J u ly  1911, 17: 10: 489; Indice dcl A rchivo H istó- 
rico do la Secrçtarfa dc Id Defensd N aciondl, Serie XL/481.5, Com pilddo por Luis 
Muro, El Co legi о de M exico , M exico C ity, L u is  V a lle  to Se c . d e  G u e rra , 15 J u ly  

1911, caja A-2 (hereafter cited  ag ILM); Foreign Office, General Correspondenco- 
-P olitical-M exico, Series 371, Public Record Office, London, M icrofilm, T h o m a s  B e a u ­

m ont H o h le r  to E d w a r d  Grey Bart, 27 J u ly  1911, file 1150: doc. 26 (hereafter cited  
as GBFO); SRE, H in t z e  to B. C a rb a ja l у  R osa s, 24 J u ly ,  21 A u g .  1911, 242.5(43: 72): 
12—9—20; P u e n te s  p a ra  la h is to ria  de  la  r e v o lu c iô n  m e x ica n a ,  ed. M. R a m i r e z ,
vols 5, M exico C ity 1954— 1957, Fondo de Cultura Económ ica, vol. 4, p. 250__251;
„M exican Herald'' 16, 17 VII 1911; „D iano del H ogar” 29 VIII, 10, 21 IX 1911; 
„Imparcial" 16, 17 VII 1911.



only been part of the German diplomatic corps since 1908 when, while 
serving as the Kaiser's aide-decamip, he w as named the German em ­
peror's personal representative to the court of Czar N icholas II of 
Russia. His lack of time in the foreign service also meant that he had 
a limited base of institutional support within the Berlin bureaucracy. 
Kard Btinz, his predecessor, had left M exico City in Novem ber 1910, 
leaving the ministry in the hands of subordinates during the critical 
early  months of the M exican revolution. The kaiser's naming Hintze 
admiral and appointing him to M exico demonstrated both the German 
leader s confidence in Hintze as w ell as Berlin's concern with events  
in M exico. Finally, the German press added to the pressure on Hintze 
by calling on the governm ent to protect German citizens in M exico  
and to see that those responsible for Covadonga w ere prosecuted. 
Consequently, the forty-seven-year-old  bachelor, whom his diploma­
tic colleagues described as straightforward and strong, yet cautious 
and shrewd, faced the greatest challenge of his young diplomatic car­
eer®.

Covadonga also threatened German policy toward M adero’s M exi­
co. Berlin, believing that only the dynamic middle and upper classes  
could govern, favored Madero since he cam e from one of M exico's 
wealthiest entrepreneurial families. It w as thought that by making 
a few minor changes in the political system  Madero woulfi prove to 
be better able to govern than ev en  Diaz himself. In return for bac­
king Madero, Berlin hoped to benefit financially by increasing its e c o ­
nomic ties with M exico6. Suddenly, however, Covadonga stood in the 
w ay such an arrangement. Therefore, Hintze im m ediately and force­
fully demanded that the León de la Barra governm ent clear up the 
m attei. He ev en  offered to pay an award to anyone who provided  
information leading to the capture of the culprits saying sarcastically  
,,I have been assured that for m oney ev en  the assassins' relatives 
.would be capable of turning them in"7.

» GBFO, Francis Slronge to G rey  Bari, 10 A pr  1912, 1397: 68- GBFO H o h le r  

to G rey  Bart, 26 M ay  1911, 1149: 5 2 5 , SRE Francisco A. de  Ic a z a  to Sec', d e  R e ­

laciones Exïeüores,  26 Jan. 1911, no exped ien te  number: 11— 14— 163; S R E  E  R h o m -  

berg to León de la Barra, IS Apr.  1911, 111/323(43: 72 )1 : 42— 1 6 - 1 3 2 ;  S R E , Ic a z a  to  

Carbaial,  21 July  1911, 2 4 2 .5 (4 3 : 72 ): 1 2 - 9 - 2 0 ,  K a t z ,  T h e  secret..., p. 7 5 -7 6 -  
P. C a l v e r t ,  The Mexican revolu tion ,  1910-1914:  The d ip lom acy  o l  A n g l o -
-American conflict,  Cambridge 1968, Cam bridge U niversity, p . 120__ 121; P  E  H  a -
l e y ,  Revolution  and intervention: The d ip lom acy  ol Tail and W ilso n  w i th  M e x ic o ,  

1910— 1917, Cam bridge 1970, M . I. T ., p. 125; „ E l M u n d o "  31 I I I  1914.
6 K a t z  Deutschland,  p. 2 0 7 , i d e m ,  The secret. ..,  p. 74, 88.
7 S R E , Hintze  to Carbajal,  24 Ju ly  1911, 2 4 2 .5 (4 3 : 72 ): 12__ 9— 20.



In response to Hintze's heavy pressure and the desire to conclude 
with the potentially damaging incident, León de la Barra took several 
steps to aid and speed up the investigation in Puebla. These measures 
included setting up a special telegraph line betw een M exico City and 
Puebla, and sending police agents, a judge/investigator, and a pro­
secutor to assist Governor C anete8. The interim president even  promi­
sed Hintze the case would be cleared up within two w eeks and that 
ten to fifteen suspects would be executed  for the crime ,,whether gu il­
ty or not”9.

León de la Barra's actions and attitude helped to substantiate char­
ges that those insurgent officers arrested in the days following the 
crime w ere not responsible but in fact scapegoats whom the Maderi- 
sta leadership wanted removed because of their active opposition to 
the new governm ent due to the slow  progress of revolutionary change. 
Governor Canete helped confirm the accusations when he told the 
president as w ell as the secretary of exterior relations that the assa i­
lants, made up mainly of people living near the factory, could not be 
identified because of their large number and the fact that the factory's 
survivors knew  none of them. To the secretary of g o b e r n a c i ó n  
(interior affairs) he openly declared that the killings w ere not committed 
by insurgent troops. Even Hintze admitted to Berlin that he doubted the 
truly guilty would be found since the Germans saw nothing, there 
existed  a ^ fa te  of anarchy in the state, and governm ent officials ad­
mitted they were pow erless to do anything. Also, Zenteno, one of the 
arrested officers, was released for lack of ev idence only to be rearres­
ted shortly thereafter, evidently  on M exico City's orders. Later, when 
several of the encarcerated officers wrote a letter to the M exico City 
daily, D i a r i o  d e l  H o g a r ,  protesting their innocence and claiming 
governm ent collusion against them, the judge, in order to silen ce them, 
placed them in solitary confinem ent10.

8 A A A , H intze  to Bethmann H ollw eg ,  24 July  1911, 14: 4 8 2 , A r c h iv o  d e  A l ­
f r e d o  R o b le s  D o m in g u e z ,  A r c h i v o  G e n e r a l  d e  l a  N a c ió n ,  M e x ic o  C i ty ,  Mariano  
X ic o y  to Robles Dominguez,  1 Aug. 1911, t o m o  2 : e x p e d i e n c e  8: f o l i o  9 0 ; A G M , 
L. H. Guajardo to León de la Barra, 28 Ju ly  1911, 17: 10: 508,- A G M , León de  la 
Barra to Canete ,  24 Aug. 1911, 17: 10: 511,- S R E , León de  la Barra to Canete,  21,
22 July  1911, 2 4 2 .5 (4 3 : 72).- 1 2 - 9 — 20,- S R E , C anete  to León de la Barra, 21 July  
1911, 2 4 2 .5 (4 3 : 72): 12— 9— 20; „ N u e v a  E r a "  3 V II I  1911.

“ A A A , Hintze to Bethmann H ollw eg ,  19 July  1911, 14: 504 ; A G N /A F M , Hintze
lo M adero, 12 Nov. 1912, 17: 417— 1: — ; K a t z ,  Deutschland,  p . 208.

10 A A A , Hintze to Bethmann H ollw eg ,  19 July  1911, 14: 504 , A G N /A F M , C a ­
n e te  to Emilio V a zq u ez  Góm ez,  15 July  1911, 77 : — : — ; S R E , Jesus Flores 
M agón to  Sec. de  Justicia, 27 Sept.  1911, 2 4 2 .5 (4 3 : 72 ): 12— 9 — 6 ; SR E , Hintze to  
Carbajal,  24 July  1911, 2 4 2 .5 (4 3 : 72 ): 12— 9—-20; S R E , C anete  to Sec. de  Relaciones  
Exteriores, 15 July  1911, 2 4 2 .5 (4 3 : 72 ): 12— -9— 2 0 ; S R E , C anete  to León de la Barrs,



By early August, the special federal investigator, L. H. Guajardo, 
had provided the Puebla judges, he claimed, w ith enough information, 
including names and other concrete evidence, to facilitate a rapid con­
clusion to the case. N evertheless, the actual capture of the remainder 
of the susipec ts and their prosecution ran into a w all of official and 
unofficial opposition in Puebla and Tlaxcala. G iven the instability of 
his governm ent and the threat of provoking more violence, Governor 
Canete was very reluctant to prosecute revolutionary officers (whose 
alleged  crime had been to attack foreigners) without having thoroughly 
exam ined the incident and proven beyond a doubt the culpability of 
the suspects. Sensitive to outside intrusion in state affairs, he only  
reluctantly accepted León de la Barra's aid and when pressured to 
modify the law  to a llow  special auxiliary judges to be named to help  
with the case, he m oved slow ly  to make the change. He also refused  
to allow  investigators to enter the Covadonga factory w hile a strike 
was taking place in August and September. Although Canete knew  the 
whereabouts of many of those who had robbed the mill, he refused to 
m ove against them. Puebla judges, reluctant, too, to prosecute the case, 
took the maximum time under the law and ev en  allow ed Zenteno's 
defending law yer to make an appeal all the w ay to the state supreme 
court. In early November, one of the principal attorneys quit the case, 
further delaying the process. The undermanned Puebla police force 
also showed little enthusiasm  in pursuing the culprits11.

21 J u ly  1911. 242.5(43: 72): 12— Э— 20; F. V. G ó m e z ,  M e m o r ia s  polit icos,  1909—  
— 1913, M exico City 1933, M undial, p. 347; „Diario del Hogar" 29 VIII, 10, 21 EX 
1911, 23 IV 1912; „N ueva Era" 3 VIII 1911. H intze also to ld  Berlin that he did 
not respond to Carbajal's adm ission of p ow erlessness so that M exico could not 
later use  it as an excu se  for not having done anyth ing about Covadonga.

^  AGM, G u a ja rd o  to  L e ó n  de  la B a rra , 28 J u ly  1911, 17: 10: 508, 4 Aug, 1911, 
4: G— 3: 311; AGM, C a n e t e  to L e ó n  de  la  B a rra , 2 Sept. 1911, 15: 5: 313, 19 Sept.  
1911, 12: С—2: 330; AGM, H in t z e  to L e ó n  d e  la Barra , 17 Sept. 1911, 3: H— 4: 
560; A rchivo del Congreso del Estado, Libros de los Expedienten, Puebla, Ernesto  
S o l is  et al. to C a n e te , 31 A u g .  1911, vol. 190: expedience 9165; A rchivo Judicial 
del Estado de Puebla, Instituto N acional de A ntropologia e H istoria, Centro Re­
gional, Puebla, J o a q u in  Ib a n e z  Jr., to T r ib u n a l S u p re m o ,  2 Aug. 1911, paquete 1911 
(hereafter cited  as AJE) INAH); AJE/INAH, J e s u s  Z. М огело to Juez lo  
de lo  C r im in a l,  3 N o v .  1911; SRE, J. F lo r e s  M a g ó n  to Se c . d e  J u st ica , 27 

Sep t. 1911, 242.5(43: 72): 12— 9— 6; SRE, H in t z e  to C a rb a ja l,  24 J u ly ,  7, 13 Sept.
1911, 242.5(43: 72): 12— 9— 20; SRE, C a rb a ja l to Se c . d e  J u s t ic ia , 13 Sept.  1913, 
242.5(43: 72): 12— 9— 20,- SRE, M a n u e l  C a le r o  to Se c . d e  R e la c io n e s  Exterlores, 26 
Sept. 1911, 242.5(43: 72): 12— 9— 20; C o r r e s p o n d e n t  D iplom ätica H ispano M exicana, 
1826— 1917, El C olegio de M exico, M exico C ity, M icrofilm, J u a n  Sânchez A zcona  
to Sec . de  Go b e rn a c ió n ,  26 J u ly  1911, rollo 45: caja 281: legajo  1: num éro 37; 
„N ueva Era” 30 VIII 1911.



Canete, hardly a radical or a champion of the left-wing of the 
Materista movement, was clearly acting in such a dilatory manner in 
the face of pressure from Hintze and León de la Втггга both out of 
political n ecessity  and the fact that he could not control state a n i 
local officials no less the general public in his state. Resistance to 
the prosecution of the Covadonga attackers was widespread promp­
ting Canete, at Hintze's behest, to double the guard at the city jail and 
the penetentiary and to put the prisoners in solitary confinement re ­
portedly in order to prevent an escape attempt. Street demonstrations 
and delegations to Madero (who refused to interfere) protesting the 
process took place. Government officials, the German consul in P u e­
bla, and potential w itnesses regularly received threats. At least one 
policem an involved in the probe w as killed. Authorities in the neigh­
boring state of Tlaxcaia, a haven for many of the suspects, also refu­
sed to cooperate with the federal governm ent12.

Hintze, increasingly disturbed over the slow-m oving process and 
what he saw as the Maderista leadership's hollow  promises, urged 
that a state of siege be declared in Puebla, that suspects already held 
be immediately tried collectively , not one at a time, and that the fe ­
deral governm ent take direct responsibility for the investigation. After 
considering the legal and political ramifications of such action, León 
de la Barra refused to take these steps13.

In retaliation, Berlin refused to formally recognize the interim g o ­
vernm ent by not answering the notification of change in administrations 
follow ing Diaz' fall to M adero’s forces in late May 1911. León de la 
Barra called the bluff by threatening to reveal publicly German non-

>* AGM, Guajardo to León de la Barra, 28 July  1911, 17: 1: 94, 4 Aug. 1911,
G—3: 311, 22 Aug. 1911, 4: G— 3: 419; AGM, Hintze  lo León de la Barra, 17 

Sep!. 1911, 3: H— 4: 560; SRE, H intze  lo  Calero, 7 N ov .  1911, 242.5(43: 72) 12—9— 20; 
SRE, C ańete  to Sec. de  Reiaciones Exteriores, 29 Sept.,  15 N o v .  1911, 242.5(43: 72): 
12—9— 20; SRE, Hintze to Carbajal, 24 July, 13, 26 Sept. 1911, 242.5(43: 72): 12—9—  
— 20; SRE, A nónim o to Claude Voight,  n.d., 242.5(43: 72): 12— 9— 20; SRE, J. Flores  
Magón to Sec. de  Justicia, 27 Sept., 14 Ocl.  1911, 242.5(43: 72): 12— 9— 6. Another  
reason tor the reluctance of T laxcalan officials to cooperate w ith the federal g o ­
vernm ent m ay have been due to a dispute w ith  Puebla over jurisdiction of the  
m ill. Built in an area w here the lin e  betw een  the tw o states w as in question, 
the federal governm ent in 1899 awarded the land to Puebla thexeby depriving  
T laxcaia of important tax revenues. The incident rem ained a sore point betw een  
the two states; see  A rchivo General de N otarias del Estado de Puebla, Puebla, 
Protocolización... , 21 Jan. 1907, notaria Puebla 5: afio 1907: vol. 1: doc. 34; V. L. G.
О j e d a, Perlil  del empresariado dom inante  en la industrie  tex t i l  de Puebla, 1906—  
— 1929, M.S.S. thesis, Universidad Autónom a de Puebla 1982, p. 33.

13 A A A , H intze  lo Bethmann H ollw eg ,  30 Aug. 1911, 14: 566, 14 Oct. 1911, 
14: 598; AGVf, H intze  to León de la Barra, 17 Sept. 1911, 3: H— 4: 560, GBFO, Hohler  
to  G rey  Bart, 16 Oct. 1911, 1150: 125; K a t z ,  Deutschland,  p. 208.



recognition which would have seriously jeopardized the Deutsch-Süda­
m erikanische Bank's privileged position in M exico. The bank had had 
a c lose relationship with the Madero fam ily even providing it with  
m oney during the revolution against Diaz. In the autumn of 1911 it 
planned a large investm ent in an industrial developm ent project along 
with the Maderos in northeastern M exico and the creation of a mortga­
ge bank in Brussels with Swiss and Belgian partners. This latter ven tu ­
re was designed to take advantage of the M exican governm ent's plan  
to float bonds worth 100 million pesos for irrigation and other agricul­
tural improvements. Not w illing to risk its econom ic objectives in 
M exico over Covadonga, the German foreign office soon after took the 
step to recognize León de la Barra's governm ent despite Hintze's oppo­
sition14.

T H E  M A D E R O  G O V E R N M E N T

Ultimately, the responsibility for resolving the case fell on Madero, 
who assumed the presidency in early N ovem ber 1911, and on his new  
governor in Puebla, N icolas Maléndez. Maléndez, Madero's favorite, 
assumed office in late Decem ber following a d ivisive election that 
weakened the regime's hand in the state and conseguently  its ability  
to deal with Covadonga. Hintze warned the Madero governm ent of the 
need to rem ove this „fatal” obstacle that threatened amicable relations 
between the two countries. In turn the president made it immediately 
clear to M aléndez that he wanted the matter g iven  first priority b e­
cause the German pressure was an em barrassment to M exico15.

In Puebla, however, the judicial process made little progress despite 
the German consul's almost daily visits to Meléndez. Legal m aneuve­
ring involving the right of defendents t0 reject judges, the right of 
prosecutors to operate in courts other than the one to which they w ere  
assigned, whether the suspects should be tried together or separately, 
the right of defending law yers to see prisoners in solitary confinement, 
and the length of time each of the accused should have to prepare his 
defense all prolonged the case. M eléndez cautiously attempted to speed

14 A A A , León de la Barra to Kaiser W ilhelm  II, 25 M a y  1911, 14: 588- A A A  
Rhomberg to Bethmann H ollweg, 12 Apr.  1911, 14: 318 , A A A , H m tze  to Bethmann  
Hollw pg, 22 July  1911, 14: 514, 16 Sept. 1911, 14: 555, 14 Oct. 1911, 14: 508,- 15 Oct.
1911, 14: 5 9 1 , A A A , A llred  von K id er len -W achter to Kaiser, 13 Oct. 1911, 14: 587 
К d t z, Deutschland,  p. 20 4 — 205 , 2 0 8 ; K a t z ,  The secret,  p. 74, 8 5 — 86.

15 A G N /A F M , M adero to M eléndez ,  8 Jan. 1912, 57: 1: 166, S R E , H intze  to 
Sec. de  Relaciones Exteriores, 2 Jan. 1912, 2 4 2 .5 (4 3 : 7 2 ): 12— 9 — 8 , L a F r a n c e ,  
Л people.. .,  p. 190— 193.



things up but advised Madero that the necessary time had to be taken 
to ensure that the proceedings w ere lega lly  sound16.

A s the Covadonga matter dragged on into March 1912, Hintze re­
peatedly warned federal authorities that a break out of the suspects 
was contem plated and called for tighter security. N evertheless, on 15 
March tw enty-one of the accused managed to tunnel to freedom most 
likely w ith the aid of penetentiary personnel and outsiders. The escape  
was a set back to the Maderista governm ent especia lly  since it came 
in the midst of a serious rebel insurgency in central and northern  
M exico. Indeed, in Puebla, the Zapatistas had set up a second state 
governm ent in the southern town of Petlalcingo and at the time of the 
escape had Puebla City surrounded and w ere calling for its surrender. 
Speculation existed that there w as a connection betw een the Zapatista 
threat and the prisonbreak esp ecia lly  since Benigno Zenteno and se v e ­
ral others who fled the penetentiary joined up with the Zapatista 
forces17.

The incident also helped justify recent security measures taken by 
the already nervous German com munity in M exico. Under Hintze's 
direction it organized itself into defense and selfhelp com m ittees to 
ward off any attackers and to place pressure on the governm ent to 
provide more protection. Hintze ev en  persuaded Madero to make an 
exception  to his governm ent's ban on arms imports allow ing the Ger­
man colony to purchase in N ew  York City five hundred carbines and 
fifty thousand rounds of ammunition to be distributed to German na­

и AGN/AFM , M eléndez  to Madero, 10 Jan. 1912, 3: 77: 2285, AGN/AFM , Hintze  to  
M a d e ro ,  19 Jan. 11912/, 17: 417-—1: — ; AGN/AFM , Federico Gonzälez  Garza to M e ­
lé n d e z , 12 Mar. 1912, 57: X: 145; AJE/INAH, Juzgado  2° de lo Criminal,  Puebla  
Ynciden te  relativo.. .,  12 Jan. 1912-, SRE, H intze  to Sec. de  Reiaciones E xte­
r io re s, 2 Jan. 1912, 242.5(43: 72): 12— 9— 8; SRE, M em orandu m --conversac ion  con 
H in tz e ,  27 Feb. 1912, 242.5(43: 72): 12— 9—8; SRE, M elén dez  to Calero,  6 Mar. 1912 
242.5(43: 72): 12— 9— 8.

17 AGN/AFM , H intze  to Madero, 15 Mar.- 1912I, 17: 417— 1: — ; AJE/INAH,
Barlos / s i c j  A r tesanos to Carlos A ldeco ,  16 Mar. 1912; GBFO Strange to
G rey  Bart, 16 Mar. 1912, 1397: 20; Records ol the Department ol State Relating  
to the Internal A lfairs o l M exico, 1910— 1929, Record Group 59, N ational Archi­
ves, W ashington, D. C., M icrofilm , Frederick  A. Lendrum to Claude E. Guyant,
20 Apr. 1912, roll 17: doc. 1355— 56 (hereafter cited as RDS/59); SRE, Hintze  to  
Calero, 31 Jan., 24 Mar. 1912, 242.5(43: 72): 12—9— 6; SRE, M elén d ez  to  Calero,  
в, 15 M ai.  1912, 242.5(43: 72): 12—9— 6; SRE, Manuel Pińa to J. Flores Magon,
16 Mar. 1912, 242.5(43: 72): 12— 9—8; L a F r a n c e ,  A people... ,  p. 255— 257; „Diario, 
del Hogar" 16 III 1912; „N ueva Era” 16— 17 III 1912.



tionals in M exico. By doing so, Madero implicity admitted his govern­
ment’s inability to protect foreigners1*.

The escape was a severe blow to the governm ent's image among the 
foreign diplomatic community and put Madero in an even  more vu ln e­
rable position vis-à-vis Hintze. A s the suspects scattered in all d irec­
tions, som e to join the Zapatistas, other the r u r a l e s ,  and even  
others to Tlaxcala w here they w ere out of the immediate reach of the 
Puebla authorities, Hintze greatly increased his pressure on the presi­
dent. Concerned about calls in the American and German press for 
an invasion and succumbing to Hintze's threat to order Germans to 
leave M exico for their safety as the British and United States govern ­
ments had done, Madero not only ordered the firing of the prison offi­
cials and several guards but also M eléndez' general secretary who  
alleged ly sympathized with the prisoners, permitted lax security at the 
penetentiary, and tried to impede their recapture. In addition, Madero 
placed detectives at Hintze's disposal, sent a special investigator and 
a fifty-man federal rural force to Puebla, and allow ed Hintze personally  
to review  the Puebla penal facility and to recommend changes in se ­
curity measures. He also ordered M eléndez to establish a reward of 
up to one thousand pesos for the capture of the escapees. Distrustful 
of M eléndez and to pacify Hintze, he also sent General Juvencio Robles 
to Puebla to keep an ey e  on the governor. Finally, Madero personally  
promised Hintze that anyone caught would im m ediately be shot on the 
spot19. Madero did, however, stop short of acceding to the German mi­

18 A A A , Hintze to Bethmann H ollweg, 6 Apr.  1912, 15: Oi l ,  A G N /A F M , Ma- 
clero to Hintze, 11 Mar. 1912, 57: 1: 4 3 5 ; A G N /A F M , Baraquiel M. A la tr is te  to  
Madero, 3 Mar. 1912, 6: 140— -1; 4124 ; L a F r a n c e ,  A  people.. .,  p . 267 ; K a t z ,  
Deutschland,  p . 213 ; K a t z ,  The secret. ..,  p.  89.

18 A G N /A F M , Hintze to Madero, 29 Mar. 1912, 17: 4 1 7 — 1: — , 4 Dec. 1912, 
70: 6: — ; A G N /A F M , M adero  to Hintze, 19 Mar. 1912, 57: 1: 500, 30 Mar. 1912, 
57: 2: 25 ; A G N /A F M , M adero  to M eléndez ,  27  Mar. 1912, 3: 77: 2 2 2 9 ; AGN/AFM , 
Luis Graja les--m em orandum , 31 Mar. 1912, 16: 3 99— 1: 1 2 975 ; G o b e r n a c ió n ,  Ramo 
d o  G o b e r n a c ió n ,  A r c h iv o  G e m r a l  d e  la  N a c ió n ,  M e x ic o  C i ty ,  Julio Barcia to Sec. 
de Gobernación, 19 Mar. 1912, o x p e d i e n t e  4», 9 11— 12(10), 1 ( h e r e a f t e r  c i t e d  as 
R G /G ); SRE, Calero to M eléndez ,  16 Mar. 1912, 2 4 2 .5 (4 3 :7 2 ): 12— 9— 6; SRE, M e ­
léndez lo Calero, 18 Mar. 1912, 2 4 2 .5 (4 3 : 7 2 ): 12— 9— 6; SRE, J. Flores  M agon to 
Sec. de  Relaciones Exteriores, 27, 30 Mar., 16 M ay 1912, 2 4 2 .5 (4 3 : 7 2 ): 12— 9— 6; 
SR E , Hintze lo Pedro Lascuräin, 9 Aug. 1912, 242.5(43,- 7 2 ): 12— 9— 7,- N. M a l e n -  
(1 e  z, 400 inlorme que el je le  de l  departam ento  e jécu t ivo  rem ile  a la legislatura  
del  estado.. .  / 1 July  1912/, P u e b la  1912 P u e . :  Escuela de  A r le s  y  Olicios de l  Estado,  
p. 11 — 12,- Memoria de  la Secretaria  de  Gobernación correspondien te  al pé r iode  
com prendido  el  / °  de julio de  1911 y  el 20 de  lebrero  de  1913, M é x ic o , .  Secretaria  
d e  G o b e r n a c ió n ,  M e x ic o  C i ty  1913, T a l l e r e s  G r â f ic o s  d o  l a  N a c ió n ,  J. Flores Magón  
to M eléndez ,  30 Mar. 1912, p . 262 , D ocum entes históricos de  la revo luciôn  mexicana,



nister's requests that M eléndez be fired, the federal governm ent send 
Puebla authorities a note from Hintze condem ning their handling of the 
case, the special federal investigator intervene directly in the Puebla 
courts, and suspects captured in Puebla and surrounding states be trans­
ferred to M exico City for interrogation. Federal officials cited separa­
tion of state and federal governm ental functions when refusing Hintze 
these latter demands20.

Still not satisfied with the M exicans' concessions, H intze then de­
manded 500.000 German marks in com pensation for the Covadonga 
killings in order to quiet German public opinion and threats of retalia­
tion from the Reichstag. He also stipulated that talks concerning the 
m oney be conducted on a governm ent-to-governm ent basis and not 
through any arbitration or claims commission. M exico, in turn, offering 
little resistance, suggested 300.000 marks, but with the condition that 
the governm ent would not accept responsibility for the attack. Follo­
w ing a few  short w eek s of talks, the two governm ents settled on 
400.000 marks, and the sum, in cash, was immediately paid to Berlin 
making Germany the only country, according to that nation's press, 
to receive such a com pensation from M exico21.

Hintze's diplomatic su ccesses using hard-line tactics w ere not lost 
on the other members of the diplomatic corps in M exico. One British 
observer commented that Hintze had done more than any other go ­
vernm ental representative to protect its citizens in M exico; som e eighty  
Am ericans and forty Spaniards had been killed and neither govern­
ment had managed to get the M exicans to punish the guilty or pay an

e d s .  I. F a  b e l  a  and J. E. de F d b e l  a, vols, 27, M exico City 1960— 1970, Jus 
a n d  F o n d o  d o  C u l t u r a  Económ ica, vol. 7, Madero to Hintze, 30, 31 Mar. 1912, 
p . 2 63  265 . O t h e r  d ip lo m a t s  in  thc M exican capital w ece a ls o  privately  informed 
t h a t  t h e  g o v e r n m e n t  f a v o r e d  the expedient a lb e i t  illega l policy  o f shooting suspects 
o n  t h e  s p o t ;  s e e  GBFO, Stronge to G rey  Bart, 16 Mar. 1912, 1397: 20.

*° R G /G , A lion so  M . M andonado to Sec. de  Gobernación, 4 M a y  1912 4« 
911— 12(10), 1.

S1 GBFO, Stronge to G rey  Bart , 7  June 1912, 1397: 30; SRE, Icaza to Sec de  
Reiaciones Exteriores,  7 M ay 1912, 242.5(43: 72): 1 2 - 9 — 7; SRE, Hintze  to  Calero,
1 Apr.  1912, 242.5(43: 72): 12— 9— 6; SRE, H intze  to lascuràin ,  Apr.  1912, 242.5(43- 
7 2 ): 12—9— 6; SRE, Lascuràin to Ministro m exicano en Berlin, 6 M a y  1912, 242.5(43- 
7 2 ): 12—9— 6: SRE, Lascuràin to Sec. de  Hacięnda, 10 M a y  1912, 242.5(43: 72):
12 9 6; K a t z ,  Deutschland,  p. 211. M adero prom ised the C hinese governm ent 
c o m p e n s a t i o n  f o r  t h e  killing of Chinese c itizens in Torreón, Coalm ila, in M ay 1911, 
b u t  it ds n o t  clear whether the paym ents w ere ever made; see  A A A , F. Albert  
to  G. Pagenstecher,  25 A pr 1912, 15: 065; A A A , Hintze  to A usw är t ige  A m t,  12 M ay
1912, 15: 045.



indemnization. Indeed, M exico City ignored Madrid's demands for treat­
ment equal to Berlin's as outlined by international law*2.

Madero hoped that the payment would satisfy the Germans and re­
lieve him of a particularly sensitive and increasingly debilitating situa­
tion23. Berlin's dissatisfaction m erely accentuated Madero's already  
poor international standing while his concessions to H intze’s pressure 
undermined support for him among his nationalistic follow ers, especia l­
ly at the local level.

Governor M eléndez, much like his predecessor, Rafael Canete, 
expressed his desire to cooperate with federal authorities in the case, 
but in prąctice his ability to do so w as strictly limited by the w id es­
pread pro-rebel sentim ent in the state and his sensitivity over the in­
terference of M exico City in local affairs. Immediately after the March 
break out, for exam ple, M eléndez vow ed to have any recaptured pri­
soner shot on the spot. W hen one of the suspects, who had been ser­
ving as a sargeant in the r u r a l e s ,  w as apprehended, M eléndez re­
fused, however, to have him executed  as Hintze demanded. The gover­
nor took this stand even  though the man, M anuel V illegas, had admitted  
to taking part in the killing of the Germans and may have raped and 
sexually  mutilated the woman. Indeed, the federal governm ent even  
had to urge M eléndez to transfer V illegas to the state penetentiary  
from the city jail for safer keeping24.

M eléndez also demonstrated his independence and concern for the 
local political situation in other ways. W hen federal authorities infor­
med the governor that they were sending a special investigator, M anu­
el Sanchez Gavito, to Puebla and asked the governor for his coopera­
tion in the name of ,,national décorum", M eléndez replied that he would  
comply ,,but only as long as the referred to law yer, in the carrying out 
of his commission, did not attack the sovereignty of the state”*5. In 
another instance, the secretary of g o b e r n a c i ó n ,  at Hintze's behest,

** GBFO, W. L. Goschen lo G rey  Bari, 11 June 1912, 1397: 26; SRE, Bernardo  
J. Cólogan lo Lascuràin, 24 Auq. 1912, 111/242(46: 72)/44: 12— 11— 55; V . G. L e s c e r -  
t a l e s ,  La colonia espaùola  de  M exico  durante la revo luciôn maderis ta ,  1911— 1913, 
„ R e v i s t a  d o  la  U n iv e rs T d a d  C o m p l u t e n s e "  1977, №  26, p. 107, 362. T h e  Spaniards, 
of e x a m p le ,  s u f f e r e d  a t  l e a s t  & d e a d  a n d  5 w o u n d e d  in  t h e  s-ta.te s in c e  t h e  s p r in t)  
o f  19U.

23 SR E , Lascuràin to Ica/a, 3 Aug. 1912, 242.5(43: 72): 12— 9—8.
«  A G N /A F M , Hintze to Madero, 15 Mar., 11 M a y  1912, 17:417— 1: — ; SRE, 

J. Flores M agón to Sec. de  Relaciones Extenores,  16 M a y  1912, 242.5(43: 72): 
12— 9— 6; Memoria..., G o b e r n a c ió n ,  Garcia lo Sec. de  Gobernación, 14 May 1912,
p. 264— 266. H in t z e  c l a im e d  t h a t  V i l l e g a s  i n s e r t e d  a  b o t t l e  in  t h e  worab of t h e  
G e r m a n  w o m a n .

25 Memoria.. .,  G o b e r n a c ió n ,  J. Flores M agón to M eléndez ,  30 Mar. 1912, p. 262. 
M eléndez to Sec. de  Gobernación, 11 Apr.  1912, p. 262— 63.



urged M eléndez to travel to M exico City for an audience with the 
German minister. The governor refused claiming that to get authoriza­
tion from the legislature and then leave the state would cause political 
panic. At another point, M eléndez publicly declared that the investiga­
tion had been closed with no results, but he soon after denied having  
made such a statem ent26.

W hile M eléndez assumed a politically cautions stance vis-a-vis Co­
vadonga, the recapture of the escapees and the investigation of the 
break out made only limited progress. The special agents and rural 
force managed to apprehend or shoot a handful of men (some while  
serving w ith rural contingents fighting Zapatistas in Morelos), but the 
majority remained at large. Indeed, press reports claimed that Benigno 
Zenteno even appeared in Puebla City but w as not arrested27.

In Tlaxcaia, federal authorities also found little cooperation. G over­
nor Antonio Hidalgo, an ex-factory worker and radical, helped only  
to the least exten t possible. He reportedly refused to assist a reservo  
police force capture suspects, arrested some police who did not have  
proper orders, and protected the j e f e  p o l i t i c o  of Zacatelco who  
harbored suspects in his home. O ne escapee alleged ly  was even  w or­
king as a consierge in the Tlaxcaia state capital building w hile another 
served as the municipal president of San Pablo del M onte28. An indi­
cation of the slow ness of the investigation can be seen  in the fact that 
the Sanchez Gavito report, which was to have been out in April, still 
had not appeared by mid-September29.

In M ay 1912, as some of the escapees were recaptured, the judicial 
process begun the previous year resumed. Again, how ever, legal ma­
neuvering by the defendents and their ’law yers and the reluctance of

26 A G N /A F M , H intze  to M adero, 29 Mar. 1912, 17: 417— 1; — , S R E , Hintze  
to  Lascuràin, 6 Aug. 1912, 2 4 2 .5 (4 3 : 72 ): 12— 9— 7; S R E , J. Flores Magón to Sec. 
de Reiaciones Exteriores, 26 Aug. 1912, 2 4 2 .5 (4 3 : 7 2 ): 12— 9— 7.

27 A G N /A F M , J. Flores Magón to M eléndez ,  4 Sept.  1912, 84: — ; — ; S R E , 
J. Flores Magón to Lascuràin, 3 N ov .  1912, 2 4 2 .5 (4 3 : 7 2 ): 12— 9 — 8,- „ N u e v a  E r a "  
1 V II  1912.

*s A G N /A F M , Grajaies- -memorandum, 31 Mar. 1912, 16: 39 9 — 1: 12974 ; R G /G , 
Garcia to Sec. de  Gobernación, 19 Mar. 1912, 4 a , 9 1 1 — 12(10 ), 1; R G /G , Antonio  
Hidalgo to Sec. de  Gobernación, 28 Mar. 1912, 4 a , 911— 12(10), 1; R G /G , Manuel  
Sanchez G av i to  to Sec. de Gobernación, 3 Apr. 1912, 4», 911— 12(10 ), 1; S R E , Hintze  
to Lascuràin, 26 Apr. 1912, 24 2 .5 (4 3 : 7 2 ): 12— 9— 6; S R E , Memorandum anónimo,
26 Mar. 1912, 24 2 .5 (4 3 : 72 ): 12— 9— 6 ; SR E , H intze  to Lascuràin, 19 Sep!. 1912, 24 2 .5 (4 3 : 
7 2 ): 12— 9— 7; Memoria.. .,  G o b e r n a c ió n ,  Garcia to Sec. de  Gobernación,  27 Apr.  1912, 
p . 263— 6 4 ; R. T h . J . B u v e ,  El m ov im ien to  revolucionario  de Tlaxcaia, 1910— 1914: 
Sus orlgenes  y  desarrollo  ante  de  la gran crisis de  1914: La rebelión arenista,  , ,H u -  
m a n k l a d e s  A n u a r i o "  1981— 1983, N o  7 , p . 152— 153.

** SRE, H intze  to Lascuràin, 8 Aug.,  I l  Sept. 1912, 42.5(43: 72): 12— 9— 7.



M eléndez and the Puebla courts to prosecute the alleged culprits, esp e­
cially  without incontrovertible evidence, slow ed the process to a crawl. 
Indicative of the situation in Puebla w as the courts' first concrete  
action — the releasing on bail of the director of the penetentiary and se ­
veral guards accused of aiding in the 15 March break out. This action  
was taken even  though the law  proscribed bail for indicted prisoners80.

The drama in the Puebla courts m ainly revolved around the second  
criminal judge for the district of Puebla, Celerino Flores, and the prin­
cipal defending lawyer, Francisco G. Luque. Flores, in charge of the 
case, made little effort to see its conclusion. W hen deprived (for what 
reason is not clear) of his auxiliary judge, he dism issed Hintze's efforts 
to make him name another saying the still-at-large suspects the Ger­
man had named had nothing to do with the case, thereby implying he 
did not need the help of another judge. At another point, when accu­
sed of inhibiting the location and capture of the suspects, Flores respon­
ded that the police, not he, w ere in charge of that end of the process31.

Luque and other defending law yers in turn found the Puebla courts 
amenable to delays. W hen the three-day period for exam ining the ev i­
dence against each suspect was about to expire, the law yers' peremp­
tory challenge to Flores w as readily accepted thereby transferring the 
casses of several men to another judge. In turn this latter judge was 
also challenged and a third one then becam e involved in the procee­
dings. The law yers then complained that they could not adequately de­
fend their clients if they w ere tried in the courts of more than one 
judge. On another occasion, Luque filed an appeal for a m p a г о (re­
prieve) when the hiring of a M exico City law yer by several defen- 
dents w as disallow ed by the first criminal judge. In early November, 
when the investigative period w as again about to end, Luque appealed, 
this time to the state supreme court, claiming his clients had been  
tortured in jail to confess and that he needed more time to gather and 
present additional evidence. This step gained him an extra month32.
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31 SR E , Hintze  to Lascuràin, 10, 11 Sept. 1912, 24 2 .5 (4 3 : 72 ): 12— 9— 7; S R E , J. Flo­
res Magón to Sec. de Relaciones Exteriores, 3 Oct.  1912, 24 2 .5 (4 3 : 72 ): 12— 9— 7.
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J. Flores M a g ó n  to Lascuràin, 9 N ov .  1912, 24 2 .5 (4 3 : 72 ): 12— 9— 7 ; S R E , Meléndez  
to Garcia, 9 Dec. 1912, 2 4 2 .5 (4 3 : 72): 12— 9 — 7 :



W hen the trial finally began in early December, one of the trial judges 
reportedly acquitted the suspects under his jurisdiction because of the 
lack of merits. This action consequently placed in doubt the outcom e 
of the w hole process, but before the trial could continue a bitter guber­
natorial election  dispute in the state and the holiday season postponed 
the procedings until the new  year33.

Luque, not m erely content to prolong the process, also took his case 
to the public and may have ev en  plotted to help the prisoners e s ­
cape. On 17 November, in a well-attended cerem ony at Aquiles Serdân's 
grave to honor the fallen revolutionary hero, Luque denounced the im­
prisonm ent of the Covadonga suspects, claimed they w ere political 
scapegoats, and praised them as true revolutionaries. Both M eléndez 
and the j e f e  p o l i t i c o  of Puebla w ere in attendance. Later, Luque 
was caught inside the penetentiary receiving plans of the prison’s \  
layout from the prisoners in what w as seen as an escape plot34.

As events dragged on in Puebla, Hintze, w ho was receiving pressure 
from both the German community in M exico and at home to bring the 
Covadonga case to a satisfactory conclusion, becam e increasingly im­
patient with the M exican governm ent. For his critics, m onetary com ­
pensation was not enough, he also had to accom plish the culprits' cap­
ture and punishment.

In M exico, Hintze faced the determined opposition of the self-appoin­
ted leader of the German colony, G. Pagenstecher. A medical doctor 
with business interests in M exico, Pagenstecher w as accustom ed to 
a close and even  indulgent relationship w ith the German m inistry as 
he pursued his personal financial and political interests. In the period 
betw een the departure of Hintze's predecessor and the minister's arri­
val in M exico in 1911, Pagenstecher even  took it upon him self unoffi­
cia lly  to represent the German community before the M exican govern­
ment. Hintze, unlike other German ministers to M exico, refused to have 
anything to do with Pagenstecher and even , he claimed, turned down 
an illegal business offer made to him by the doctor in conjunction with 
other German businessm en35.

Pagenstecher took offense at his treatment by Hintze and vow ed  
to make the minister pay for his actions. He seized upon Covadonga

33 L a  F  г a n  с  e , A  people...,  p . 2 91— 2 9 9 ; „ N u e v a  E r a "  2, 4 X II  1912.
34 A G N /A F M , Hintze to Madero, 4 Dec. 1912, 70: 6: — ; S R E , Meléndez to 

Raiael H ernandez,  17 Dec. 1912, 2 4 2 .5 (4 3 : 72): 12— 9— 7; S R E , H intze  lo Garcia,
4 Jan. 1913, 2 4 2 .5 (4 3 : 72 ): 12 —9 —7; „ N u e v a  E r a "  И  X I I  1912.
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and used it to try to get H intze recalled. If the Covadonga incident in 
itself was not originally an esp ecia lly  serious concern among the Ger­
man colony outside Puebla, Pagenstecher made it into one. A s early  
as January 1912, at a cerem ony to commemorate Kaiser W ilhelm  II's 
birthday, Pagenstecher called for the use of warships against M exico  
and attacked both the governm ent and H intze for their faint-hearted  
attitude toward M exico. Pagenstecher not only carried on his anti-Hintze 
campaign in M exico (including traveling outside M exico City to 
visit personally Germans in other M exican cities), but he also wrote 
articles to the German press and took advantage of his contacts in the 
governm ent in Berlin to try to undermine H intze36.

Hintze countered Pagenstecher's charges by threatening to sue him 
and to take aw ay his title of Sanitätzrat (a title conferred on German 
medical practitioners) and his Cross of the Red Eagle, Fourth Class, 
ousting him from the N aval Officers' Society, and publicly branding 
him an ambitious, unscrupulous, genetica lly  defective half mulatto from 
Haiti w ith no support among the German colony. Pagenstecher finally  
agreed to drop his campaign only after Hintze persuaded M exican  
exterior relations secretary Pedro Lascuràin to call the doctor into the 
ministry for an interrogation concerning his role in attacking M exico  
over Covadonga37.

Hintze also received  a great deal of pressure from Germany, much 
of it because of the doctor's efforts. His newspaper articles aroused  
German public opinion including the influential naval officers' clubs 
w hile his contacts in the German governm ent also proved useful. Hint- 
ze’s immediate predecessor, Karl Bünz, whom H intze accused of ma­
king 100.000 pesos in an alleged illegal business deal with Pagenste- 
cher, now headed the M exican desk in the foreign m i n i s t r y  Already  
ill-disposed toward Hintze because of his non-diplomatic background, 
Bünz made things difficult for Hintze. Another former minister to Me 
xico and business partner of Pagenstecher, von Richthofen, now ser­
ving in the Reichstag, played a role in persuading that body to press­
ure the state department and Hintze. J n  A ugust 1912, for exam ple, the 
M exican minister to Berlin, Francisco A. de Icaza, w as told by the 
subsecretary of the German state department, Arthur Zimmermann,

36 AAA, H intze  to Bethmann H ollweg,  12 M a r .  1912, 14: 725 , 21 M a y  1912, 15: 090 , 
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S7 M ay 1912, 15: 109, 7 July  1912, 15: 180; AAA, C l ip p in g  tro m  ,,F ra n k fu r te r  Z e itu n g ''
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that the governm ent wanted a solution to the case before the opening 
of the next session of the Reichstag38.

Hintze, under fire from hard liners at home and within the German 
com munity in M exico, could not be content until all the escapees  
were recaptured and punished. Throughout the remainder of 1912, as the  
effort to locate the suspects dragged on with only partial success, he 
became increasingly frustrated. His correspondence to M exican offi­
cials, now m ostly written in the more formal French (rather than Ger­
man or Spanish), turned more and more sarcastic increasingly im ply­
ing that Madero and other federal officials and not just state and 
local authorities w ere responsible for the delays. In his zeal, he bypas­
sed regular diplomatic channels, ignoring the secretary of exterior 
relations, and w ent directly to the secretary of g o b e r n a c i ó n  and  
Madero with his complaints. H e tried to invoke the 1882 Treaty of Friend­
ship, Commerce and Navigation betw een M exico and German that 
forbid extraordinary prolongation of justice. He demonstrated his con­
tempt for M exican legal norms by claiming that the laws of a „state 
as small as Puebla” should not block such an important case as C o­
vadonga and suggesting that the Covadonga suspects be treated like 
any common criminal who, he claimed, w ere dispatched everyw here  
e lse  in M exico without regard to legal formalities. N ot satisfied with  
Madero's verbal promise to have suspects shot upon capture (which  
state authorities seldom  carried out in practice), Hintze attempted to 
force the governm ent to sign an a i d e - m e m o i r e  authorizing the 
same. This step M adero also promised to take, but it was never carried 
out due to resistance by the secretary of exterior relations, Pedro 
Lascuràin39.
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In Puebla, Hintze accused M eléndez of masterminding the efforts 
not only to impede the arrest of the culprits, but also of protracting 
the legal process in order to allow  the suspects to again escape. The 
German consul in the state capital, Claude Voight, becam e so close  
to the special police agent in charge of the investigation, José Her­
nandez, that information concerning the case reached Hintze before 
the authorities in M exico City. W hen Hintze suggested  that state offi­
cials w ere acting in flagrant contradiction of M exico City's desires, 
the subsecretary of g o b e r n a c i ó n ,  Julio Garcia, admitted the fact. 
The governm ent, in defense of its poor record, how ever, repeatedly  
claimed it could not intervene in state affairs and that M exican legal 
procedures w ere inherently slow. In reality Madero culd not control 
events in Puebla and Tlaxcaia, and his protestations to the contrary 
increasingly fell on deaf ears40.

Desperate to recoup his seriously damaged standing with Germany 
and perhaps fearful that the new  state governm ent which w as to take 
office on 1 February 1913 might, in a bid to boost its public appeal 
after a highly d ivisive election , decide to g ive  am nesty to the pri­
soners, Madero took the initiative. In a m ove to prepare public op i­
nion in Puebla for direct federal governm ent intervention in the case, 
he issued a puiblic statem ent calling the suspects not revolutionaries 
but criminals. Indeed, to support his view , Madero ev en  went so far 
as to twist the history of his own m ovem ent by saying that follow ing  
the aborted rebellion of Aquiles Serdân in Puebla in late Novem ber 
1910, there was no revolutionary m ovem ent in the state until May 
1911 when the peace treaty negotiations in Ciudad Juarez w ere alrea­
dy under way. Then, according to Madero, rebel groups formed in 
the state, not to fight for the cause, but to take advantage of the g e ­
nerous demobilization conditions that Madero had offered his troops. 
It was, he concluded, one of these illegitim ate groups, led by Beni- 
gno Zenteno, that attacked Covadonga41.

Next, Madero sent the federal attorney general, Adolfo V alles, to 
Puebla to organize and oversee a trial of those suspects already in
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custody. M eanwhile, authorities captured three additional escapees. 
Taking advantage of the suspension of constitutional guarantees edict 
in effect in parts of the state (a step Madero had previously refused 
to take claiming Covadonga occurred before the imposition of martial 
law), Madero ordered the latter three tried by a military court; they  
were condemned to death, and the president denied their appeal for 
clem ency. Before the civil trial ended and the executions could take 
place, however, Madero w as overthrown42.

The new chief executive, V ictoriano Huerta, did not disappoint 
Berlin. He, too, ignored the condemned men's pleas, and they were 
shot in early  March with the German consul as 'witness. Hintze, plea­
sed with the turn of events, was finally able to report to his superios 
that M exico had managed to punish at least some of the culprits. Be­
fore ta.king a five-month leave (for health reasons) to Germany, he 
urged the German community to aid Huerta in bringing peace to M e­
xico48. In April, four other suspects w ere tried and condemned to 
death. In the Puebla courtroom where the trial took place, the Ger­
man consul and his legal counselor w ere g iven  seats of honor at the 
front along with the judge, law yers and defendents. The condemned  
were finally executed  in September, but the most-wanted suspect and 
alleged ningleader of the massacre, Benigno Zenteno, remained at large 
fighting with the Zapatistas44.

CONCLUSION

The evidence convincingly demonstrates that the León ele la Barra 
and Madero administrations betw eeen  July 1911 and February 1913 
were able to do little toward solving the Covadonga killings to the 
satisfaction of the German governm ent, and what efforts they did make 
only antagonized regime supporters in Puebla and Tlaxcala. The 
result was an undermining of critical domestic and international bac­
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king that Madero needed to survive. A  final issue or question that 
must be addressed is to what exten t did the Covadonga controversy  
directly contribute to Madero's downfall?

In regard to the public in Puebla and T laxcaia the anti-M adero atti­
tude engendered by the federal governm ent's intervention in the Co­
vadonga affair and allegations that revolutionary officers w ere made 
scaipegoats contributed in part to the formation of anti-governm ent 
conspiracies and armed movem ents during 1911 and 1912. Although  
none of these efforts w ere directly linked to the coup that overthrew  
Madero in M exico City in February 1913, they helped create an atm o­
sphere of discontent and instability and m ilitarily w eakened the g o ­
vernm ent making the efforts of Félix  Diaz and Victoriano Huerta 
much more feasib le45.

As for the German governm ent and its minister in M exico, Paul 
von Hintze, there ex ists  strong circum stantial ev id en ce that Covadonga  
played a key role in persuading Berlin to directly participate in M a­
dero's overthrow. Every account of the ,,Decena Trâgica" (the ten  
days of fighting, 9— 18 February 1913, that brought down the Madero 
governm ent), for exam ple, w hether by participants or historians, c lea­
rly and unequivocally link Hintze intim ately to the machinations of 
the United States ambassador, Henry Lane W ilson, in his efforts to 
overthrow M adero46. W ilson, in his memoires, for exam ple, says the 
following about Hintze:
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I formed a high opinion of Admiral Von [sic] H intze Irom the first m om ent of our 
acquaintance and this opinion. I had no occasion  to m odify subsequently. Through 
all the trying hours of the revolution  against Diaz [sic] and M adero, culm inating  
in the bombardment ol the City of M exico, his sym pathy and advice w ere ol in­
finite value. W hile the bombardment w as in progress he w as esp ecia lly  active  and 
supported ill" in every  crisis w ith unsw erving courage and absoute disregard of 
ev ery  consideration except the faithful perform ance of the duties pertaining to his 
high office47.

Indeed, by February 1913, Hintze's dislike for Madero ran so deeply  
that he even  refused asylum  for the president's parents w hen they  
sought refuge in the German legation during the „Decena Trâgica". 
One report also claimed that the bulletin announcing Madero's 18 Fe­
bruary resignation w as posted in the German ministry as early as 
14 February48.

According to Friedrich Katz, Hintze and his superiors, up to mid- 
-1912, had been w illing to make an attempt to forbear M adero in or­
der to further German-M exican econom ic ties. Indeed, German-M exican  
trade did reach an all-tim e high under Madero, but Berlin's tolerant 
attitude wilted as conditions in M exico deteriorated. A s 1912 progres­
sed, Hintze began to take a harder line against M exico. At the same 
time he cooperated more and more c losely  with the Am ericans and 
British, even  planning strategy with H enry Lane W ilson on how  to bring 
pressure on Madero. In the spring of 1912, for exam ple, H intze threate­
ned to order Germans to leave M exico for their safety  (W ashington  
and London actually ordered their citizens to leave). In October in the 
wake of the Félix Diaz rebellion in Veracruz, Berlin sent the warship  
„Victoria Luise" to M exican waters to join the U.S.S. „Des M oines" as 
a show of force, and the three pow ers cooperated in providing safety  
for each  other's citizens. M eanwhile, Hintze was predicting that Madero 
would be the victim  of a military coup in the not too distant future, 
and he suggested that V ictoriano Huerta w as the right person to 
replace the president49.

Exactly how  much Covadonga had to do with this change in policy  
toward Madero and Hintze's subsequent direct participation in his down­
fall is difficult to say, yet circum stantial evidence clearly indicates
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a connection. O ver the months from July 1911 to February 1913, Hintze 
spent a significant percentage of his time dealing with Covadonga. He 
wrote many dozens of letters to and talked w ith large numbers of 
M exican officials, made several trips to Puebla, and oversaw  the Ger­
man consul's tenacious pursuit of the case. H e also made clear his 
disgust over Covadonga not only to his superiors and M exican authori­
ties, but to other members of the diplomatic corps as w ell. Henry Lane 
W ilson, in his campaign to represent M exico City's diplomatic commu­
nity before the Madero governm ent, ev en  urged H intze to allow  him to 
use Covadonga as an argument in his exhortations to the president. 
Hintze also remained on the defensive over the issue due to bitter at­
tacks on his handling of the affair from personal opponents both at home 
and in M exico. Finally, the sw itch to an increasingly hard-line stance  
toward Madero and a closer cooperation w ith United States and 
British diplomats during 1912 coincided with the frustration over the 
prison escape and its aftermath as reflected in a more biting and even  
insulting tone in Hintze's letters to Madero concerning Covadonga. Gi­
ven these factors, it is almost certain that Covadonga contributed in 
a significant w ay to H intze's decision  to collaborate in bringing about 
Madero's downfall50.

The killing of four German citizens at the Covadonga textile facto­
ry near Puebla City in July 1911, then, had far-reaching dom estic and 
international repercussions for the Madero regime. German demands 
that the president so lve  the case and local resistance to that endeavor  
placed the León de la Barra and then the M adero governm ent in a no- 
-win situation in which the Maderista m ovem ent lost valuable and criti­
cal support among its followers in Puebla and Tlaxcala as w ell as in 
the foreign diplomatic community. This loss certainly contributed to 
the atmosphere leading to Madero's downfall in February 1913, and 
there is little doubt that the furor over Covadonga prompted Hintze to 
take part in planning and executing the successful coup d'état that 
brought the German minister's favorite, V ictoriano Huerta, to power.
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NIEMCY, NACJONALIZM REWOLUCYJNY I UPADEK 
PREZYDENTA FRANCISCO I. MADERO: 

MORDERSTWA W  CO VADO NG A

W nocy z 12 na 13 lipca 1911 r., w m ieście  Puebla, sto licy  stanu Puebla w M e­
ksyku, starły się  siły  obalonego dyktatora Porlirio Diaza z rew olucyjnym i oddzia­
łami Francisco I. M adero, przyw ódcy liberałów , który w tym że roku obrany został 
prezydentem  M eksyku. W czasie tych zam ieszek żołn ierze Diaza sk ierow ali ogień  
karabinów m aszynow ych na tłum ludzi zebranych na aren ie korridy i oczekują­
cych  zapow iedzianego przybycia Francisco I. M adero. Z ginęło parę dziesiątków  
łudzi spośród zw olen n ików  M adero i ich rodzin. Jeden z w ycofu jących  się  z m ia­
sta oddziałów  rew olucyjnych , pod wodzą Bonigno Zentano, przechodził koło tek sty l­
nej fabryki Covadonga położonej w  północnej dzielnicy. Dyrektor labryki obaw iając  
się, że oddział ten zaatakuje fabrykę rozkazał straży fabrycznej ostrzelać rew olu­
cjonistów . W yw iązała  się  walka. R ew olucjon iści w spom agani przez m iejscow ych  
zw olenników  M adero —  w  tym  i przez częśc  załogi fabryki —  zdobyli C ovadongę  
i urządził w  niej rzeź, w czasie której zginęli m. in. jeden obyw atel hiszpański 
i czterech obyw ateli niem ieckich .

Zabójstwa obcych o b y w a t.li  nie należały w tych n iespokojnych  czasach w M e­
ksyku  do rzadkości, jednakże naw et najostrzejsze protesty odpow iednich rządów nie  
o dn osiły  w iększych  skutków . N ie  udaw ało się  odnaleźć w innych zbrodni, a rząd 
m eksykański nie był sk łonny w yp łacać odszkodow ali rodzinom  pom ordow anych. 
Natom iast w przypadku C ovadongi rzecz przybrała inny obrót. Gdy w iadom ość
o zabójstw ie czterech obyw ateli n iem ieck ich dotarła do N iem iec, tam tejsza prasa 
nadała spraw ie duży rozgłos, a rząd niem ieck i, m ając za sobą poparcie opinii pu­
blicznej, zażądał od M eksyku przykładnego ukarania spraw ców  zabójstw a i w yp ła­
cenia odszkodow ania rodzinom  pom ordow anych. W ykonaw cą n iem ieck iego  dem ar­
che  stał się  m inister pełnom ocny R zeszy w M eksyku, adm irał Paul von  Hintze, 
człow iek  tw ardego charakteru, którego działanie cechow ały  bardziej upór i bez­
w zględność, aniżeli zdolności dyplom atyczne.

Dla rządu m eksyk ańsk iego  i sam ego prezydenta M adero sprawa była niełatw a, 
zw ażyw szy  na skom plikow aną sytu ację  w ew nętrzną. Prezydent znajdow ał się  pod 
naciskiem  m ocarstw a, na którym M ek sykow i zarówno ze w zględ ów  gospodarczych, 
jak i politycznych  bardzo zależało. Z drugiej strony m iał zbyt mało autorytetu  
w  stosunku do w ładz lokalnych Pueblo, aby w ym óc energiczne postępow anie. Spra­
w ę dodatkow o kom plikow ała okoliczność, że mordercami byli przecież zw olen n icy  
rew olucji, która w yn iosła  M adero na stanow isko prezydenta.

Sprawa ciągnęła się  dwa lata i jej przebieg stanow i przedmiot artykułu, który  
szczegółow o om awia działania obu stron oraz podaje charakterystykę osoby admi­
rała von  H intze i stosunków  niem iecko-m eksykańskich . Jej epilogiem  było n ie ty l­
ko u jęcie w reszcie w inn ych  mordu i skazanie ich na śm ierć (przy czym  głów ni 
spraw cy uszli spraw iedliw ości). Zdaniem autora casus C ovadonga przyczynił s ię do 
następnego przewrotu „D eccna Tragica", gd y  po dziesięciu  dniach w alk , 9— 18 luty
1913, prezydent M adero zrezygnow ał ze sw ego stanow iska na rzecz V ictoriano  
Huerta, popieranego na skutek zaleceń  adm irała von  H intze przez rząd niem iecki. 
Autor określa Huerta jako faw oryta n iem ieck iego  m inistra pełnom ocnego. Artykuł 
zaopatrzony jest w bardzo bogatą d o k im en tację  archiw alną i bibliograficzną.


